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SUPREME COURT OF THE QTATE OF NEW YORK - NEW YORK COUNTY 

PRESENT: HON. PAUL W O O T L  PART , 7 
Ju8tlCe 

SEVERINA FLORENTINO and MARIA CABRERA, INDEX NO. 4 

Plaintiffs, MOTION DATE 
- agalnst- 

MOTION BEP. NO. 003 
NOKIT REALTY CORPORATIQN, ORVVELL 
MANAGEMENT and SPODE REALTY LLC, MOTION CAL. NO. 

Debendants. 

The foilpwing papers, numbered I to 8, were read on this motion by plaintiff Severina Florentlno 
fsr summary judgment; motlon by defendants Noklt Realty Corporatlon and Owfell Management 
for summary Judgment; and motion by third-party defendant Nqw York City Houslng Authority to 
diomiee the thlrd-party complaint. 

W U M B E R E D  

E+ 

*f + 
Cross-Motion: Yes 0 No ~Q-v7pQvF 

Q*/;;F '* 

Notlce of Motion/ Order to Show Cause - Affldavlts .rr 

1- 

Aeswerlng Affldavlts - Exhlblts (Memo) , 
, ,  

Replylng Affldavlts (Reply Memo) 

@4? 

This is an action by plaintiff Severlna Florentino ("plaintifl@&injunction ordering her 

landlord to accept a Section 8 rent subsidy voucher for her current two-bedroom rental 

apartment. Defendants Noklt Realty Corporation and Orwell Management (colleatively 

'defendants") are, respectively, the building's owner and prqperty manager.' Plaintiff alleges 

that defendants' refusal to accept her Section 8 benefits violates sections 8-107(5)(~1)(1), 8- 

107(5)(a)(2) and 8-107(5)(c)(l) of the Administrative C ~ d e  of the City of New York 

("Administrative Code" or "Local Law 1 O"), which prohibits landlords from discriminating against 

tenants based on their lawful source of incgme, Defendants have filed a third-party complaint 

The action brought by co-plaintiff Maria Cabrera against defendant Spode Realty LLC has been 1 

severed by stipulatlon of the parties dated August 20, 2009. 
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against New York City Holrsing Authority ("NYCHA"), and NYCHA has not yet answered. The 

Note of Issue has not been filed. 

Presently before the Court are three motions, which will be construed as cross-motions. 

First, plaintiff moves for summary judgment, pursuant to CPLR 3212, declaring that defendants 

violated Local Law 10 and brdering them to accept her Section 8 voucher for her wrrent 

apartment, end awarding compensatory damages from the month in which the voucher was 

issued through the month of its acceptance by defendants. Second, defendant8 move for 

summary judgment, pursuant to CPLR 3212, dismissiug the complaint for failure to establish a 

Loual Lirw 10 violation, or, alternatively, directing plaintiff to accept a studio apirrtment instead 

of the two-bedroom, or directing NYCHA to (1) amend the Section 8 voucher and Mousing 

Assistance Payment Contract ("MAP") to accurately reflect the size of plaintiff's current 

Bpartment; (2) hold defendants harmless from llabllity for any misrepresentations they certify as 
1 

accurate in executing the Section 8 voucher and HAP; or (3) withdraw the Section 8 voucher 

and HAP. Third, NYCHA moves to dismiss the third-party complaint, pursuant to 321 1, for 

failure to state a cause of action. 

BACKGROUND 

In support of her motion, plaintiff submits, infer alla, her own affidavit, the Section 8 
I 

vwcher, and the HAP. Defendants submit, infer alla, affidavits of Simon Haberman and Marco 

Pichardo, and letters between Legal Aid and defendants' counsel. NYCHA submits, inter alia, 

the affidavit of Gregory A. Kern, and a NYCHA policy memorandum. The relevant undisputed 

facts are as follows. 

Plaintiff is a sixty year-old single woman who resides in a two-bedroom rent-stabilized 

apartment at 801 West 174th Street #5H. She has lived in the apartment for over 15 years, 

and last renewed her lease on January 2, 2009. The building contains at least six residential 

units. Plaintias current monthly rent is $B89,38, but she receives a Dlsabllity Rent Increase 
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Exemption lowering her rent to $843.25. Hbr pnly sgurCe of mohthly income is $781.00 in 

Social Security Income and Sqcisl Security Disabjlity benefits. 

According to plaintiffs affidavit, she currently resides glone and does not rent out her 

second bedroom. Member$ of her immediate family have resided with her in the parat, but they 

have not lived in her apartment fgr several years. She has also occasionally had visiting family 

members stay with her briefly as guests. She denies subletting her apartment or receiving 

rental income from anyone staying there. 

In March 2008, plaintiff applied for Section 8 assistance with the United States 

Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD") to help meet her monthly rent 

obligations. On July 8, 2008, she received a Section 8 voucher, administered by NYCMA, for a 

rent subsidy in the amount of $1,095.00. The face of the voucher indicated that her rent 

subsidy corresponded to a unit containing zero bedrooms. 

On December 15, 2008, Simon Haberman, one of defendants' principals, received a 

letter from Legal Aid regarding plaintiffs Section 8 eligibility. Defendants advised Legal Aid that 

plaintiff's Section 8 voucher authorized beneflts for a studio apartment only, and that her current 

apartment was ineligible for the benefits provided by the vouohsr as it WQS a two-bedroom. 

Plaintiff commenced the present action on March 5, 2009, allfsglng that defendants 

improperly refused to apply her Section 8 voucher to her ourrent two-bedroom apdrtment, in 

violation of Local Law 10. She seeks an injunction ordering defendants to accept the voucher 

and to execute all necessary related documentation within 10 days, as well as an award of 

compensatory damages. 

Defendants deny discriminating against plaintiff and have offered her a studio apartment 

ip the same building, which they claim complies with the Section 8 voucher. Defendants also 

allege that the Section 8 voucher and HAP require them to certify certain items regarding 

plaintiffs apartment, including the number of bedrooms and the identity of the occupants. They 
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claim that they cannot truthfully certify the apartment’s size becauw it ciyltaifis Wo bedroams, 

not zero bedrooms. They also claim that the voucher requires occupancy solftly by plaiqtiff and 

her immediate family, and they gubmit an ilffidavit from the building’s superintendent, Marco 

I 

Pichardo, stating that he observed unrelated roommates livlng there. Defendants1 additlbnally 

claim that the HAP provides for liability and monetary penalties in the event of on owner’s 

breach of the contract, and that they cannot knowingly certify a voqcher and HAP containing 

material misrepresentations. 

Defendants brought a third-party complaint against NYCHA on November 13, 2009, 

alleging that the Section 8 vowher and HAP require them to misrepresent the number of 

bedrooms in plaintiffs apartment and to oonceal rental income she receives from roommates, 

and to thereby perpetuate a fraud upon NYCHA and HI)D and expose themselves to possible 

penalties. They seek an injunction orderlng NYCHA to either withdraw the voucher on grounds 

of alleged fraud regarding room size and number of occupants, or directing plaintiff to accept 

the studio apartment. 

\ 

NYCHA has submitted an affidavit from Gregory A. Kern, a NYCHA mmager 

responsible for the Section 8 program, disputing defendant’s claims regarding the alleged 

certification requirements. According to Kern, NYCHA policy and federal regulat)ons allow 

plalhtiff to use her Section 8 voucher for a two-bedroom apartment with a rent of either $909.38 

or $843.25. Kern also notes that the HAP does not require defendant8 to certify the size Qf 

plaintiffs apartment or anything concernlng her income. Although the HAP forbids plaintiff from 

permitting anyone else to live in the apartment without prior approval of NYCHA and the 

landlord, if defendants suspect that plaintiff is subletting the apartment or hiding income, they 

wn report such concerns directly to NYCHA which will investigate and make a determination 

concerning plaintiff’s continued eligibllity for Section 8 assistance. 
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DI$CU$SION 

Plaintiff moves for summwy judgment declaring that, defendsnts violated Local Law 10 by 

refusing to accept her Section 8 voucher, and ordering defendants to accept her voucher fbr her 

current two-bedroom apartment. She alsq requests an award of compensatory damages, 

representing the difference between her monthly rental obligations arrd what she would have 

paid from the month in which the voucher wae issued thrgugh the month of its acceptance by 

defendants. 

Defendants, in turn, seek summary judgment dismissing the complaint for failure to 

establish a Local Law 10 violation. Defendants claim that they refused to honor the voucher 

because it required them to falsely and fraudulently certify thgt plaintiff occupies a Qtudio 

apartment, and to conceal income that she purportedly receives from subletting. They also 

allege that they are exposed to potential liability and penalties for any misrepresentations in the 

voucher and HAP. In the alternative, defendants request an order directing plaintiff to accept the 

studio apartment, or ordering NYCHA to (I) amend the voucher and HAP td reflect a two- 

bedroom; (2) hold defendants harmlesg from liability for any misrepresentations they certify a8 

dwurate In executing the voucher and HAP; or (3) withdraw the voucher and HAP. 

NYCHA moves to dismiss the third-party cornplaint for failure to state a cause of action, 

on the grounds that defendants failed to stme or plead service of a statutwily-required notice of 

olaitn pr lv  tq commencing the third-party action, and, in any event, that defendants’ claim that 

plaintiff cannot use her Section 8 voucher for her two-bedroom apartment lacks merit. 

A. Stendwrds Q f Review 

Summary judgment is a drastic remedy that should be granted only if no triable issues of 

faact exist and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law (see Alvsrez v Prospect 

Hmp.,  88 NY2d 320,324 [1986]; Andre v Porneroy, 35 NY2d 361, 364 [I 9741). The party 

mgving for summary judgment must make a prima facie showing of entitlement to judgment as a 
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matter of law, tendering sufficient evidence in admissible form dgmqnstratieg thg absence of 

material issues of fact ($89 Winggrad v New YQrk Unlv. Med. Cfr., 64 NY2d 851, 853 [1985]; 

CPLR 3212 [b]). A failure to make such a showing requires denial of the motion, regardless of 

the sufficigncy of the opposing papers (see Smalls v AJI M u s . ,  Inc., 10 NY3d 733, 735 [2008]). 

Once a prima facie showlng has bebn made, however, “the burden shifts to the nonmoving party 

to produce evidentiary proof in admissible form quficient to establish the existence of material 

issues of fact that require a trial for resolution” (Gluffride v Cifibenk Corp., 100 NY2d 72, 81 

[2003]; see elso Zuckeman v City of New York, 49 NY2d 557,562 [1980]; CPLR 3212 [b]). 

When deciding a summary judgment motion, the Court’s role is solely to determine if any 

trisble issues exist, not to determine the merits of any such issues (see Sillman v Twenfleth 

Century-Fox Film Cop., 3 NY2d 395, 404 [1957]). The Court views the evldence in the light 

most favorable to the nonmoving party, and gives the nonmoving party the benefit of all 

reasonable inferences that a n  be drawn from the evidence (see Negrl v Stop & Shop, lnc., 05 

NY2d 625, 626 [1985]). If there is any doubt as to the existence of a triable issue, summary 

judgment should be denied (see Rotuba Extruders, lnc. v Ceppos, 46 NY2d 223, 231 [1978]). 

On a motlon to dismiss under CPLR 321 1, the Court’s task is to determinq whether the 

pleadings state a cause of action. The Court must “afford the pleadings B liberal conWuctlon, 

tqke the allegatlons of the complaint as true and provide plaintiff the benefit of every possible 

inference” (EBC I, lnc. v Goldman, Sachs & Co., 5 NY3d 1 1, 19 [2005]; see also Gorelik v Mount 

Sinai Hasp. Ctr., 19 AD3d 319, 319 [lst Dept 20051). “The motion must be denied if from the 

pleadings’ four corners ‘factual allegations we discerned which taken together manifest any 

cause of action cognizable at law”’ (51 7 West 232nd Owners Cow. v Jennifer Realty Co., 98 

NY2d 144, 152 [2002], quoting Polonetsky v Better Homes Depot, 97 NY2d 4 6 , s  [2001]). 
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I 1  

I 

1 I , *  

The Section 8 program was established by federal law (42 USC 5 14370 to providB rent 

subsidies to lower incgme familla6 "to enable them to obtain decent, safe and sanitary housing in 

the private sector" (Mdek v Frwnco, 263 AD2d 427, 428 [ 1 st Dept 19991; see also Fair v Flnksl, 

284 AD2d 126, 127 [Ist Dept 20011). Under Section 8, a participating tenant makes rental 

payments based on financial ability and the locgl housing authority, in this case NYCMA, issue8 

subsidy payments to the landlord to cover the balance. Once NYCHA issues B Section 8 

voucher, the participatlng landlord and NYCHA enter into a contract known as a HAP, pursuant 

to which NYCHA will pay a portion of the tenant'$ rent (see Rosario v Diagoml Realty, LLC, 8 

NY3d 755, 760-61 [2007]; Tapia v Successful Mgmt. Corp., 2009 WL 2163595, * I  n 1 [Sup Ct 

NY Go 20091). 

On March 26,2008, the New York City Council passed Local Law 10, an amendment to 

the Human Rights Law, designed to ban discrimination by landlords against tenants based on 

their lawful source of income, including Section 8 vouchers (see Rekhrnan v Alco Realfy I, L. P., 

2010 WL 1458979 [Sup Ct NY Co 20101; Tlmkovsky v 56 Bennett, LLC, 23 Misc 3d 997, 1000 

[NY Go 20091; Tapi8, 2009 WL 2183595, *3; $67 €ast 787th St. L.L.C. v Walker, 2009 WL 

1153294, *1 [Clv Ct NY City 20091). 

Pursuant to Local Law 10, it is an unlawful discrlmlnatory practice for a landlord or 

menager tO refuse to "sell, rent, lease, approve the sale, rental or lease or otherwise deny to or 

withhold from any person or group of persons such a housing acoommodatlon or an interest 

therein . . . because of any lawful source of incqme" (Administrative Code 5 8-107 [5] [a] [l]). 

Local Law 10 also makes it unlawful to discriminate against any person "bec~us6 of any lawful 

source of inCome of such person . . . in the terms, conditions, or privileges of the . . . gale, rental 

or lease of any such housing accommodation or an interest therein" (id. at 5 8-107 [5] [a] [2]), In 

addition, real estate brokers may not refuse to lease housing accommodations "to any person or 
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I 

g rwp of persons” based on ,‘any lawful source of income” (Id. at 5 6-107 [5] [c] [l]). The term 

“lawful source of income” is expre8sly deflned to include income derived from the use of Section 

8 vouchers (id. at Q 8-102 [25]). The courts have consistently held that a landlord’s refusal to 

accept a legitimate Ssctidn 8 voucher constitutes unlawful discrimination under Local Law 10 

(see Timkovsky, 23 Mlsc 3d at 1004 [LoGal Law 10 is “violated when a landlord refuses to accept 

a Section 8 voucher“]; 667 East 787th, 2009 WL 1153204, *I [“After March 26,2008 . . . [a] 

landlord of a building with six or more units, would not be able to decllne paymerlt by Section 8 

voucher without running afoul of Local Law lo”]). 

Here, plaintiff has established a prima facie claim that defendant8 violated Local Law 10 

by refusing to accept her SeGtlon 8 voucher for her current two-bedroom apgrtment (see Tapia, 

2009 WL 2163595, *6 [granting summary judgment declaring that Local Law 10 prohibited the 

dqfendants from refusing to accept Section 8 benefits, and directing them to accept the plaintiffs’ 

Section 8 vouchers and to execute all documents necessary to effeCtuate acceptance within 10 

days]; Tlmkovsky, 23 Misc 3d at 1004; 667 East 787th, 2009 WL 1153204, *2). 

Defendants do not dispute that Local Law 10 bars discrimination against plaintiff based 

.on her receipt of Section 8 benefits. Instead, their defense is that they refused to accept 

plalntiffs Section 8 voucher because to do so w ~ u l d  require them to make false certiflcatloos in 

the voucher and HAP. They argue that plaintiffs voucher is for a studio apartment and that she 

currently resides in a two-bedroom, thus requiring them to execute documents fraudulently 

certifying the size of her apartment. This precise argument, however, was expressly rejected in 

Jones v Perk Front Apartments, LLC, Sup Ct, NY Co, April 27, 2099, Smith, J., irldex No. 

+w2878/2008. 

The landlord in Jones, similar to here, refused to accept a Section 8 voucher from an 

indlgent 78 year-old disabled woman who had resided in her apartment for 16 years. The 

landlord claimed that the voucher applied only to a studio apartment, and that it would be forced 

tq execute documents fraudulently certifying the apartment’s size since the plaintiff actually lived 
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in a one-bedroom. In granting preliminary injunctivg relief order'ing the landlord to acwpl the 

Section 8 payments and to complete the HAP, the court ruled: 

yEqusrlly diSif?Qen4QUS, is defeodant landlord's rejection of plaintiffs 
voucher for fear that they will be somehow committing a fraud by 
accepting a vowher issued fgr B studio apartment, knowing that et 
present plairrtjffoocuples q one bedroom apartment. . . . [TIM only 
documdnt ths landlord is required to sign iq ths . . . [HAP] contract, 
which mgrely requlrps the iandlord to specify the partiwlar unit for 
which the Public Housing Authority and the landlord arq bound. . . . 
There i8 no requirement that the Idhdlwd verify the number of 
bedrooms in ths apartment rented by the tenant. The case relied 
on by defendant landlord, E$ther Keyes v 285 Hewthome Realty 
LLC, Case No 10122173, in whikh the New York Stete Division of 
Human rights found thet a landlord cannot be compelled to slgn 
government docyments which tnisstate importaot Information (such 
as the site of the apartment), and that the refusal by the iandlord 
to do so did not constitute dlscrlmination is not appllcable here as 
there is ng proof in any admissible form presgnted by defendant 
landlord that defendant was required to sign any document In the 
instant oase whlch would have constituted a fraud on its part. The 
HAP contract . , . does not requires such Informatian" (id. at 2-3) 
(emphasis added). 

Jones is equally appilcable to the present case (id). Moreover, the federal regulations indicate 

that the voucher may be applied to plaintiffs two-bedroom (see 24 CFR 5 982.402 [d] [2] ["The 

family may ieass an otherwise acceptable dwelling unit with more bedrooms than the family unit 

qize"). 

Defendants also contend that accepting the voucher wwld require them to conceal rental 

lnwme that plaintiff purportedly receives from sublettlng her second bedroom to roommates. 

Even though there is a factual dispute regarding whether plqintiff sublets her apartment, 

defqndants cannot refuse to accept the Section 8 vouaher because they allege that she aublets 

,to roommates. The undisputed evidence establishes that NYCHA, not the landlord, has the 

authority to determine the applicability of a Section 8 voucher. 
I 

Therefore, based on their awertions, defendants have failed to raise an issue of fact 

sufficient to defeat plaintiffs summary judgment motion, or to establish their own entitlement to 

judgment as a matter of law dismissing the complaint (see Kosoglyadov v 3130 Brlghton 
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Seventh, LLC, 54 AD3d 822, 824 [2d Dept 20081; Timkovsky, 23 Mlsc 36 qt 1004). 

Plaintiffs motion for summary judgment is granted, as defmdmts' refusal to acwpt her 

Sectign 8 voucher violates Local Law 10 (see Tapia, 2009 WL 2163695, "0). Defendants are 

direoted to accept plaintiff's Section 8 voucher for her current two-bedroom apartment, and to 

execute all documents necessary to sffectuate acceptance within 10 daysb Plaintiff is also 

awerded compensatory damages In an qmount to be determined by a Special Referee (see 

Kosoglyedov, 54 ADBd at 824). Defendants' cross-mqtion for summary judgment Is denied. 

c. HYC HA's Motion to Dla miss 

NYCHA moves to dismiss the third-pwty complaint on the basis that defendants failed to 

comply with Public Housing Law Q 157(1), because they did not file a notlce of claim prior to 

commencing the third-party action or plead that they had dopa so. NYCHA also argues thet the 

third-party complalnt has n0 legal merit because, according to NYCHA policy and federal 

regulations, plaintiff is entitled to use her Section 8 voucher for her current two-bedroom 

apartment and cannot be forced to accept a studlo, and the HAP does not require defendants to 

mgke any representations about the sire of plgletiffs apartment or her Income.' 

Pursuant to Publlc Mousing Law Q I $'(l), In every action agalnat a publiG housing 

authority, other than a condemnation proceeding, the complaivt must allege that "at least thirty 

days have elapsed since the demand, claim qr claims upon which such action . . . is fpundepl 

were presented to the authority for adjustment and that it has neglected or refused to make an 

Bdjustment or payment thereof for thirty days after such presentment." A failure to comply with 

the notice and pleading requirements of section 157(1) may result in dismissal of the complilint 

(sge Kovachevich v New York CHy Hous. Auth., 295'ADZd 255, 255 [Iqt Dept 20021; Leon v 

NBW York City Hous. Auth, 214 AD2d 455,455 [ ls t  Dept 19951; Reeves v City ~f New Yo&, 177 

AD2d 437,437 [ lst  Dept 19911; Trio Bronx Inc. v Hemendez, 2009 WL 3612135 [Sup Ct NY CO 

'The Court finds it unnecessary to address the remaining arguments raised by NYCMA. 
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of claim as required by saction 157(1). Rather, defendants assert that they were not required to 

flle a notice of claim because the statute only applies to tort or cqntract actions where monetary 

damages are demanded of a public authsrity, and their adion requests NYCHA tg cqnstrue its 

own regulations under the SeGtion 8 program. Defendantsl also contend that NYCHA is a 

necessary party because it has the qxolugive qbility to clarify what defendants wgre required to 

certify on the Section 8 voucher and HAP. 

NYCHAs motion to dismiss the third-party compl@lnt is granted. Although defendants 

argue that section 157(1) is ingpplicdble, they cite to no legal authority exempting them from the 

notice and pleading requirements under the present circumstwcea (see KOvachevlch, 295 A D ~ L  

4t 255). In any event, the Court need not decide whether section 157(1) applies in this cam 

because, even had defendants aompligd with the statute, dismissal is nonetheless warranted a8 

the third-party complaint fails to state a viable cause of action (see Gorellk, 19 AD3d at 319-20 

{dismissal is warranted absent any viable claims). In spposition to NYCHAs motlon, defendants 

again argue that if they honor the voucher thqy will be required to make fraudulerrt 

miqrepresentations regarding the size of pllalntiWb ,apartment and household wmpssifion. The 

Court has already rejected these arguments and granted summary judgment ordering 

defendants to accept the voucher. Furthermore, NYCHA has demonstrated that, pursuant to its 

own policies and federal regulations, plaintiff is allowed tq Use her voucher for a two-bedroom 

apflrtrnent, and that defendants are ngt required to certify the size of her apartment or sourw of 

incpme. 

For these reasons and upon the foregoing papeb, it is, 

ORDERED, ADJUDGED and DECIAREC) that plaintiffs motion for summary judgment is 

granted as follows: (1) Local Law 10 prohibits dsfendants Nokit Realty Cwporation m d  Orwell 

Management from refusing to honor plaintiffs Gection 8 Voucher; (2) defendants are directed t0 
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accept plaintiffs Section 8 voucher for her current twb-bedmov apartment, and ,to eke 

documents necessary to effectuate awptsnce of the voucher within 10 days after aeryiqe Of a 

copy of this Order with Notiw af Entry; and (3) plaintiff Is awarded compensatory dmwges irl an 

slmount to be dstermihed by a Special Referee; dnd it is further, 

ORDERED that defendants’ motion for summery judgment is denied; and it is further, 

ORDERED that third-party defendqnt NYCHA’s mQtion to dismiss the third-party 

complaint is granted; and it is further, 

ORDERED that this matter is set down for an inquest before a Special Referee to hear 

and determine all issues relating the awerd of compensatory damages to plaintiff; and it is 

further, 

ORDERED thgt not Mer than June 11, 2010, plaintiff shall $awe a copy of this Order 

with Notice of Entry and Notiae of Inquest on defendants’ cdunsel. Upon payment Qf the 

appropriatq fees and filing of a copy of this Order with proof of service with the Clerk of this 

Court not later than June 25, 2010, 

This CQnBtitUteS the D 

Dated: May -’ 21 2010 
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